THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000285
Trial Court Case No. 2012ALJ040143AP

Thomas J. Torrence, #094651, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Lake E. Summers
Malone, Thompson, Summers & Ott LLC
339 Heyward Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Office: (803) 254-3300
Fax: (803) 254-0309
E-mail: summers@mtsolawfirm.com

Counsel for Appellant

RECEIVED

JAN 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Appellant, the South Carolina Department of Corrections [“SCDC”], appeals several rulings from the January 30, 2014 and January 2, 2016 orders issued by the South Carolina Administrative Law Court [“ALC”] in the instant matter. By these orders, the ALC reversed several final decisions made by SCDC concerning prison industries wage claims articulated in an administrative grievance filed by the Respondent, Thomas Torrence, under SCDC’s Inmate Grievance Policy System, designated as Policy Number GA-01.12 [“GA-01.12”].

Accordingly, SCDC respectfully presents the following issues on appeal:

- I. Did the ALC err in its January 30, 2014 order by ruling that Torrence timely filed his grievance?
- II. Did the ALC err in its January 30, 2014 order by ruling that equitable tolling applied to Torrence’s grievance?
- III. Did the ALC err in its January 20, 2016 order by calculating the “prevailing wage¹” that SCDC should have paid Torrence for his prison industries labor?
- IV. Did the ALC err in its January 20, 2016 order by ruling that Torrence must be allowed to designate persons or entities to receive an immediate distribution of funds held in escrow for his benefit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40(A)(5)?

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D) provides in its entirety that “[n]o inmate participating in the [prison industries] program may earn less than the **prevailing wage** for work of similar nature in the private sector.” [emphasis supplied]. Neither § 24-3-430(D) nor any other section of § 24-3-430 quantifies the “prevailing wage.” For that matter, no other prison industries statute enacted by our legislature quantifies the “prevailing wage.” Likewise, no applicable federal statute or regulation quantifies the term. In *Wicker v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 2001 WL 1005574, *2, n. 3 (S.C.A.L.J.D. Aug. 13, 2001), the ALC observed that “[t]he federal minimum wage is currently \$5.15 per hour, see 29 U.S.C.A. § 206; thus, the prevailing wage in the private sector would have to be at least \$5.15 per hour.” In *Wicker*, the ALC considered prison industries pay claims presented by an inmate who participated in the same federally certified prison industries project as Torrence. Based upon its observation of the federal minimum wage, the ALC in *Wicker*, 2001 WL 1005574, *2, held that the “prevailing wage for work of a similar nature in the private sector is \$5.25 per hour.” While it affirmed the ALC by its decision in *Wicker*, 602 S.E.2d 56 (S.C. 2004), our Supreme Court did not consider the ALC’s holding regarding the “prevailing wage.” Until the ALC’s January 20, 2016 order in Torrence’s case, no other court in our state had calculated the “prevailing wage” due any inmate who participated in federally certified prison industries projects operated by SCDC, like the project in which Torrence participated. See notes 2, 8, 20, and 38 below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. TORRENCE'S GRIEVANCE

A. TORRENCE'S STEP 1

From 1997 to 2004, Torrence voluntarily participated in a federally certified prison industries project operated by SCDC at Evans Correctional Institution ["Evans"] in which ESCOD, Inc. and, later, INSILCO, Inc. participated as the private industry sponsors.

Torrence filed a Step 1 grievance form with SCDC dated May 21, 2007 (R. pp. 121 – 27), in which he asserted the following (R. p. 121):

I was employed by [ESCOD], in the SCDC Private Sector Industries Program at [Evans] from June 1997 thru November, 2004.² During the course of my employment,³ I learned that SCDC was withholding certain wages and monies from me in contravention of state law, **to which I have a property interest**. The S.C. Supreme Court recently ruled in [*Torrence, et al., v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 640 S.E.2d 866 (S.C. 2007)] (filed May 7, 2007) (received by [me] on May 21, 2007), that I must file a Grievance under [GA-01.12].⁴ [emphasis supplied].

² SCDC operates three (3) types of projects within its prison industries program: "traditional" projects (*see* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-3-320 and 330), "service work" projects (*see* §§ 24-1-290 and 295; *see also* § 24-3-310(3)), and projects certified by the federal government under its "Prison Industries Enhancement Certification Program" ["PIECP"]. SCDC must operate its PIECP projects, such as the project at Evans, in conformity with federal law (*see* 18 USC § 1761, the Ashurst-Sumners Act), federal regulations (*see* 64 FR 17000, *et seq.*), and state law (*see* §§ 24-3-40 and 24-3-310, *et seq.*).

³ Torrence's claims that he "employed" by or otherwise worked for ESCOD or that he was "employed" by or otherwise worked for SCDC are negated by our Supreme Court's decision in *Williams, et al., v. S.C. Dep't of Corr. et al.*, 641 S.E.2d 885, 887 – 88 (S.C. 2007). Torrence's claim is also negated by federal precedent. *See Bennett v. Frank*, 395 F.3d 409, 410 (7th Cir. 2005) ("People are not imprisoned for the purpose of enabling them to earn a living. ... **But prisoners are not employees.**"). [emphasis supplied]. Torrence's claims are also negated by *S.C. Dep't of Corr. v. Cartrette*, 694 S.E.2d 18, 23 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010), in which this Court relied upon § 24-3-40(A) and *Williams*, 641 S.E.2d at 887, when it ruled that an inmate was not a private industry sponsor's employee. As an aside, the dissent in *Cartrette* quoted the above-provided passage from *Bennett*. 694 S.E.2d at 24. Notwithstanding *Williams*, *Bennett*, and *Cartrette*, the ALC declined to reject Torrence's repeated assertions that he was an "employee" or was otherwise "employed" by the private industry sponsor, SCDC, or the State in footnote 3 of its January 20, 2016 order. (R. p. 1035). Moreover, in ruling in the same order that SCDC should have paid Torrence "the mean average South Carolina wage of an electronic assembler," the ALC explicitly stated that SCDC should have done so for the years Torrence "**worked as a harness assembler for ESCOD.**" [emphasis supplied]. (R. p. 1039). *See* note 21 below.

⁴ In an affidavit he submitted with this Step 2 form, Torrence attested that he, with the assistance of counsel, filed the civil class action, which our Supreme Court eventually considered in *Torrence* in 2001 in the "Richland County Court of Common Pleas." Torrence provided the civil action number associated with the litigation in his affidavit: 2001-CP-40-3409. After the circuit court dismissed his civil class action, Torrence and his fellow plaintiffs, with

Torrence articulated eight (8) claims by which he asserted SCDC had unconstitutionally deprived him of his property (i.e. his wages) in an “Addendum” attached to his Step 1 form. (R. p. 123).

Torrence then requested the following action: “Payment of wages, withholdings and interests as set forth in subsections 1 thru 8 of the Addendum attached hereto.” (R. p. 121).

Torrence specified how and when he attempted to informally resolve the claim(s) he articulated within his Step 1: “This matter was pending before S.C. courts from 2001 until the recent May 7, 2007 decision. SCDC intends to petition the state supreme court for a rehearing on this matter within 30 days.”⁵ (R. p. 121).

Significantly, Torrence did not claim or otherwise assert anywhere in his Step 1 form, his “Addendum,” or their allied documents that his prison industries wage claims challenged SCDC policies and/or procedures, nor did he request a waiver or exception anywhere in his Step 1 or its allied documents from the filing deadline established by paragraph 13.9 in GA-01.12.

B. SCDC’S RESPONSE TO TORRENCE’S STEP 1

By written response dated December 1, 2011 (R. pp. 122 and 128 – 33), SCDC, by and through the appropriate official, denied the claim(s) articulated by Torrence in his Step 1 by concluding that Torrence did not timely file his Step 1.

the continued assistance of counsel, appealed to our Court of Appeals, and, as he accurately stated, our Supreme Court accepted the case on direct review. (R. pp. 143 – 44). As an important aside, no part of *Torrence* stated that Torrence or any of his fellow inmate plaintiffs “must file” an administrative grievance under GA-01.12. Instead, our Supreme Court only acknowledged that under *Wicker*, Torrence “can present [his wage claims] via [GA-01.12]. *Torrence*, 646 S.E.2d at 870.

⁵ As discussed in note 17 below, SCDC respectfully asserts that the ALC misapprehended the chronology associated with our Supreme Court’s decision in *Torrence*, when Torrence filed his Step 1, representations purportedly made by SCDC to Torrence concerning its petition for rehearing in *Torrence*, and when our Supreme Court ruled on SCDC’s petition for rehearing in *Torrence*.

SCDC first determined that Torrence did not file his Step 1 within the applicable filing deadline established by various editions GA-012. SCDC stated that Torrence's prison industries pay records reflected the following (R. p. 129):

These records confirm that you voluntarily participated in the prison industries project operated by SCDC at Evans in which ESCOD participated as the private industry sponsor before SCDC ended its policy of paying inmates a "training wage" for their initial 320 hours of labor. SCDC ended its policy of paying a "training wage" on July 1, 1999.⁶ These pay records reflect that SCDC began paying you on or about August 15, 1997 at the rate of at least \$5.25 per hour for the labor you voluntarily provided in the project at Evans, and they reflect that SCDC remitted its final payment to you on or about November 16, 2004.

SCDC found that Torrence filed his Step 1 nearly 10 years after he began participating in the project, approximately 2½ years after he finished participating in the project, and nearly 2½ years after our Supreme Court issued *Adkins v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 602 S.E.2d 51 (S.C. 2004) and its companion case, *Wicker v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 602 S.E.2d 56 (S.C. 2004). SCDC then decided that since Torrence did not file his Step 1 within either seven (7) or 15 days of the incident upon which he grounded his wage claims (i.e. the date upon which SCDC both first began paying him for his prison industries labor), Torrence failed to timely file his Step 1. (R. pp. 130 – 31).

SCDC also denied the merits of Torrence's wages claims, and, in doing so, it anchored its conclusion on the fact that the project in which Torrence participated was certified by the federal government and upon the examination of such federally certified projects undertaken by the circuit court in *Adkins* (R. p. 132):

Additionally, I deny your claim that you are entitled to any relief under § 24-3-430(D), the so-called "prevailing wage" provision. Specifically, as the prison industries project in which you participated at Evans was a

⁶ See *Adkins v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 602 S.E.2d 51, 53, n. 1 (S.C. 2004). SCDC paid Torrence a "training wage" of \$0.25 per hour for the first 160 hours of his labor, and \$0.75 for the second 160 hours of his labor. SCDC thereafter paid Torrence \$5.25 per hour for regular hours and \$7.86 per hour for overtime hours. (R. pp. 1030 – 31).

project for which SCDC received certification under the federal government's Prison Industries Enhancement Certification Program ["PIECP"],⁷ I conclude that the provisions of § 24-3-410(B)(7) and not [§] 24-3-430(D) applied to the rate of pay SCDC was required to remit to you under [§] 24-3-40(A) for the labor you voluntarily provided to this project. In making this conclusion, **I rely upon the decision issued by the circuit court in [Adkins], which concluded that inmates who participated in an identically certified SCDC prison industries project did not possess a viable claim for back wages or higher wages under the provisions of § 24-3-430(D).**

Even if you have a viable claim for relief under § 24-3-430(D), I conclude that SCDC paid you the proper rate of pay for the labor you voluntarily provided to the federal certified project industries project at Evans. **In making this conclusion, I rely upon the guidelines established by the federal government, specifically the United States Department of Justice's Bureau of Justice Administration [known as "BJA"]. BJA published the guidelines application to the PIECP in the Federal Register, specifically 64 FR 17000. Within these guidelines, BJA declared that the rate at which inmates are paid for the labor they voluntarily provide to PIECP projects, like the project in which you participated at [Evans], cannot be set below the federal minimum wage.**⁸ With the exception of the period of time SCDC paid you "training wages," SCDC paid you at least the federal minimum wage for the labor you voluntarily provided to the prison industries project it operates at Evans. Again, I find that you did not timely file your grievance in which you demanded back pay allegedly owed to you by SCDC including any back pay associated with the period of time SCDC paid you a "training wage." [emphasis supplied].

SCDC also concluded that SCDC did not owe Torrence \$1.92, \$2.79, or any other amount for every labor hour Torrence provided to the federally certified project it operated at Evans. (R. p. 132).

⁷ See note 2 above.

⁸ As discussed further below, SCDC respectfully asserts that the ruling from the ALC's January 20, 2016 order that SCDC "must pay [Torrence] the mean average wage reflected by OEC Code 93114 for the years 1997 through 1999 and the mean average wage reflected by that code or its counterpart for the years data is not contained in the record" is at odds with the applicable federal guidelines published by BJA and applicable precedent from federal courts. (R. pp. 1034 – 39). SCDC also respectfully asserts that the ALC's ruling represents a novel issue for review by our state's appellate courts. See note 1 above and notes 20 and 38 below.

In so concluding, SCDC again relied upon the circuit court's decision in *Adkins*, as well as the provisions of § 24-3-400.⁹ (R. p. 133).

Finally, SCDC concluded that contrary to Torrence's claim, Torrence was not entitled, under § 24-3-40(B)(2), to complete and immediate access to the portion of his wages SCDC had deducted and held in an interest bearing escrow account for his benefit in conformity with § 24-3-40(A)(5). (R. p. 133).

Torrence received the denial of his Step 1 on December 1, 2011, and the denial advised him that he could appeal the official's decision within five (5) days of receipt. (R. p. 122).

C. TORRENCE'S STEP 2

By his Step 2 dated December 5, 2011 (R. pp. 134 – 44 and 153 – 62), Torrence appealed SCDC's initial denial of the wage claims he articulated in his Step 1. In an affidavit he submitted with his Step 2 (R. p. 143), Torrence confirmed that he participated in the prison industries project operated by SCDC at Evans "from June 1997 through November 2004," and he also acknowledged that he filed the original complaint which eventually resulted in the decision by our Supreme Court in *Torrence* in 2007.

In his Step 2, Torrence argued that he timely filed his Step 1 (R. pp. 137 – 38):

The Warden asserts that [I am] barred by the statute of limitations established in [GA-01.12] by not filing [my] grievance within seven or fifteen days – either the date upon which SCDC both first began paying [me] and applying statutorily mandated deductions. The Warden further asserted the Step 1 grievance was filed 10 years after participation began and 2 ½ years following the [*Wicker*] decision; that [GA-01.12] does not provide any exception to prison industries disputes; and that [I] exceeded a reasonable time with filing the Step 1 Grievance [reference omitted].

[I contend that] the Warden's assertions are moot where the pendency [of *Torrence*], filed four (4) years before the decision in [*Wicker*], tolls the filing of [my grievance].

⁹ As discussed in note 44 below, the ALC affirmed SCDC's decision on this issue.

[I submit that my] counsel notified [me] of the Court's decision in Torrence in correspondence dated May 17, 2007 and received May 21, 2007, App. I.¹⁰ In that correspondence counsel advised [me that] "we are preparing the papers for the grievance process and will circulate for your review once the Supreme Court Order has become final." Id. **Counsel recognized and informed [me] of the tolling. [I] filed [my] Step 1 immediately, App. H.**¹¹

In correspondence dated August 27, 2007 counsel advised "proceeding through the grievance process to address your claims and ultimately the [ALC] appeal process is the legal requirement," [App. J].¹² [Torrence] was still pending, [SCDC's] petition for rehearing was subsequently denied.

[SCDC] filed a Motion to Dismiss [Torrence] (2001-CP-40-3409) from Circuit Court, however, that court found the Complaint properly stated a declaratory judgment action which involved novel issues and initially denied that motion in November 2002. [SCDC] renewed that motion, successfully, only after the decision in [Wicker] that the procedure to utilize is the grievance system. [emphasis supplied].

Torrence articulated the following relevant assertion in his Step 2 (R. p. 138):

[I object to the] Warden's mischaracterization of a "pre-existing right" to file grievances, [reference omitted]. The Court in [Torrence] was clear in stating that the procedure to follow was an agency grievance, as established in, **and unavailable prior to [Wicker]**. [emphasis supplied].¹³

¹⁰ "Appendix I" to Torrence's Step 2 appears in the record. (R. pp. 155 – 57).

¹¹ "Appendix H" to Torrence's Step 2 also appears in the record. (R. pp. 153 – 54). In the affidavit he submitted with his Step 2, Torrence accurately observed that our Supreme Court released its opinion in Torrence on May 7, 2007. (R. p. 143). See note 4 above. Torrence stated in this affidavit that he received notice of the Torrence decision via correspondence from his counsel dated May 17, 2007, and he stated that he received the correspondence on May 21, 2007. (R. p. 143). Torrence included the May 17, 2007 letter from counsel as "Appendix I" in support of his Step 2. Torrence argued in his affidavit that he filed his Step 1 "on May 21, 2007, within seven (7) days of receipt of his right to file a grievance in this matter." (R. p. 143). See note 5 above and note 17 below.

¹² Torrence mistakenly referenced "Appendix I" regarding the August 27, 2007 correspondence from his counsel. Instead, Torrence included the August 27, 2007 correspondence from his counsel as "Appendix J" in support of his Step 2. "Appendix J" appears in the abbreviated Record on Appeal. (R. pp. 158 – 59).

¹³ The ALC erroneously embraced Torrence's argument in its January 30, 2014 order when it concluded that SCDC "did not recognize a wage claim as grievable until the Supreme Court upheld" the ALC's decision in Wicker in August 2004, and, therefore, any attempt by Torrence "to file a grievance prior to August 2004 would have been futile." (R. p. 399). Adkins and Wicker were issued August 23, 2004. See note 16 below.

Torrence disputed the rationale by which SCDC denied the merits of his wage claims (R. pp. 139 – 40).

Torrence likewise disputed the rationale by which SCDC denied his claim for immediate access, under § 24-3-40(B)(2), to his wages escrowed by operation of § 24-3-40(A)(5) (R. pp. 140 – 41), and, in doing so, he asserted that SCDC’s interpretation of § 24-3-40(B)(2) was unconstitutional. (R. p. 140).

Torrence again did not claim or otherwise assert anywhere in his Step 2 form or its allied documents that his prison industries wage claims challenged SCDC policies and/or procedures, nor did he request a waiver or exception anywhere in his Step 2 or its allied documents from the filing deadline established in GA-01.12 by invoking paragraph 13.9.

D. SCDC’S REPLY TO TORRENCE’S STEP 2

By its final decision dated February 9, 2012 (R. pp. 134 and 145 – 52), SCDC affirmed its denial of Torrence’s Step 1 and likewise denied his Step 2.

In denying his Step 2, SCDC rejected the arguments offered by Torrence concerning whether he timely filed his Step 1 and concluded as follows (R. pp. 148 – 49):

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