**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No. 2016-000285

JAN 05 2017

Trial Court Case No. 12ALJ0400143AP

SC Court of Appeals

Thomas J. Torrence, #094651 Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Thomas J. Torrence
#094651
Lieber Correctional Institution
Post Office Box 205
Ridgeville, South Carolina 219472

RESPONDENT, *Pro se*

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALC'S JANUARY 30, 2014 ORDER PROPERLY HELD THAT TORRENCE TIMELY FILED HIS GRIEVANCE

A. TORRENCE'S GRIEVANCE DISTINGUISHED FROM *Okera*

The Supreme Court in *Torrence*, footnote 1, stated that “We note that the issue of class certification was not ruled upon by the trial court.”

SCDC urges this Court to consider a memorandum opinion in *Okera v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 2012 WL 10907962 (2012-MO-042) (S.C. 2012) where the Court *affirmed* the ALC's ruling that Okera failed to comply with the relevant statute of limitations. In its June 29, 2009 Order in 08-ALJ-04-00887-AP the ALC affirmed SCDC's denial of Okera's grievance where the record shows “it appears [Okera] failed to file his Step one (1) grievance [until] six years after his last day of work in the prison industries.”

The instant case is clearly distinguished from *Okera*. First, Torrence filed the civil action *Torrence* in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas *while* he was still employed in prison industries and the grievance *within* 15 days of notice of the Supreme Court's decision in *Torrence*. Second, Torrence and SCDC are the same parties in both actions, thus, SCDC was on notice of Torrence's claims at the initiation and service of the Original and Second Amended Complaints. Third, Okera was not a named party in *Torrence*. Fourth, Okera filed his grievance two (2) years after being terminated from prison industries for disciplinary reasons.

SCDC would suggest (Initial Brief p. 17 and p. 23) that *Okera* would control Torrence here based upon employment in the identical project, at Evans. If that suggestion bore any logic, then it would encompass the decision in *Wicker*, who, also employed at that

project, was also terminated for disciplinary reasons and filed his grievance **more than 15 days after** termination.²⁴ SCDC's assertion has no merit on that rationale.

The SCDC determination that Okera did not file his grievance within 15 days, that decision being affirmed by the ALC, and subsequently our Supreme Court, is clearly distinguishable from the instant appeal.

B. TORRENCE'S STEP 1, STEP 2, NOTICE OF APPEAL TO THE ALC AND HIS ALC BRIEFS CHALLENGED SCDC'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN PAYING LESS THAN THE PREVAILING WAGE.

At all times relevant to this appeal, from Step 1 and Addendum, Step 2, and Torrence's briefs in the ALC, Torrence's claims have challenged on the custom, practice, policy and procedure of SCDC's prison industries wage rate, training pay, wage disbursement, and escrowed wages. Although not invoking specific nomenclature,²⁵ it has been a matter of law where the ALC in *Wicker* determined prevailing wage claims were based on the DOC's policies and procedure, *Wicker*, 2001 WL 1005574 *1.

Even SCDC acknowledged the pay practices as policy in their Step 1 Response, "[y]ou challenged *the rate* at which *SCDC* both *paid you* for your prison industries labor *and applied* statutorily mandated deductions to your pay," R. p.131. (Emphasis added). SCDC further acknowledged these practices as "policy" in holding "SCDC ended *its policy* of paying inmates a training wage..." R. p.129 (Step 1 Response) (Emphasis added).

Torrence suggests that the appendices submitted in support of Step 2 detail the "administrative" policy of prison industries pay,²⁶ "how we '**practice**' it," (R. p. 568); "We

²⁴ *Wicker* did not file Grievance No. Ker-0353-00 until transferred to another institution after his termination.

²⁵ See, e.g., *Calhoun v. Calhoun*, 529 S.E.2d 14 (S.C. 2000). Petitioner did not limit the issue on appeal even though she failed to refer to the term ["transmutation"] in her statement of the issue on appeal where her argument on the issue contained discussion and citations to authority on "transmutation."

²⁶ Deposition of Tony Ellis, Division of Industries Director. (R. pp. 561 – 583)

administratively allow that,” (R. p.569); and “that is an **administrative** decision made by the agency,” (R. p.574). (Emphasis added)

Torrence suggests the established methods employed by SCDC concerning private sector prison industries payroll constitutes custom, practice, policy and procedure.

Custom is defined as “a practice that by its common adoption and long, unvarying habit has come to have the force of law.” *Black’s Law Dictionary*, Deluxe Eighth Edition (2004), p. 413; *Custom* is also defined as “frequent or common use or practice; a frequent repetition of the same act; usage; or habit,” *Webster’s New Universal Unabridged Dictionary*, Deluxe Second Edition (1985), p. 449.

Policy is defined as “a plan or course of action, as of a government, political party, or business, intended to influence and determine decisions, actions, and other matters.” *The American Heritage College Dictionary*, Third Edition, p. 1058.

Practice is defined as “a habitual or customary action or way of doing something,” *Id.* at 1073.

Procedure is defined as “the act, method, or manner of proceeding in some process or course of action,” *Id.* at 1434.

Torrence’s challenge to wage payment and distribution pursuant to §§24-3-430(D) and 24-3-40 is a specific challenge to the policies of the DOC where these statutes imbue SCDC with the fiduciary duty in the annual wage verification, payment of the prevailing wage, disbursement of wages and management of the long-term savings account.

Torrence’s March 26, 2015 Original Brief before the ALC challenges SCDC’s policies and procedures in several forms, to wit: a) “conditions of employment,” R. p.733; b)

conditions that “informed that he would be required to work a ‘Training Period’²⁷ of 320 hours prior to working for ‘minimum wage,’”²⁸ (R p.733-734); c) that Torrence and Ward “petitioned the DOC to change the *wage payment practice* then in effect,” (R. p. 735)²⁹ (Emphasis added); d) citing §24-3-315 for “*the rates of pay and other conditions of employment*,” R. p. 737 - 738) (Original emphasis); e) neither Federal or South Carolina statutory authority “contemplate or leave any inference of an ‘authority’ to pay a ‘training wage,’” (R p. 740); f) being “*informed of the conditions of his employment*,”³⁰ (R. p.740); (Original emphasis); g) “training hours or pay a substandard wage below *statutory guidelines*,” (R. p. 741) (Emphasis added); h) “conditions of employment” citing §24-3-315 (R. p.743); i) “conditions of employment” citing of §24-3-315, 18 USC §1761(C)(2) and 64 FR 17009-10, (R. p.744); j) “*shall pay the prisoner’s wages*,” (R. p. 745) (Original emphasis); k) “*admit acting without authority*,” (R. p. 746) (Original emphasis); l) “We have not been advised by SCDC as to specific legal or regulatory guidelines governing the wage and displacement information SCESC has provided,” (R. pp. 747 - 748);³¹ m) “but I can tell you *how we practice it* and what we we’re doing,” (R. p.750) (Emphasis added); n) “we *administratively* allow that,” (R. p. 750); o) “public policy,” (R. pp. 752, 761); that applicable Federal and South Carolina statutes “do not contemplate or create any inference of authority to misdirect a portion of or make deductions,” (R. p. 756) ; p) in SCDC’s statutory

²⁷ A practice that SCDC concedes is policy in their Step 1 Response, “SCDC ended *its policy* of paying inmates a ‘training wage,’” R. p. 129. (Emphasis added)

²⁸ Footnote 11 of Torrence’s Original Brief (R. p.734) demonstrated the SCDC’S “policies” of the Division of Human Resources in the Employment Tax Deductions forms Torrence was required to execute or was issued bi-weekly.

²⁹ See also Torrence’s December 5, 2011 Affidavit, Item No. 3, in support of Step 2 Appeal, R. pp. 522 - 523.

³⁰ In relation to the statutory requirement of §24-3-430(C).

³¹ October 30, 2003 Correspondence from Roosevelt T. Halley, Executive Director of SCESC to George L. Schroeder, Director of the Legislative Audit Council. Torrence’s March 26, 2015 ALC Original Brief demonstrating SCDC’s “Legal or regulatory guidelines” noncompliant with the SCESC/DEW wage verification.

interpretation, a court “generally gives deference to an administrative agency’s interpretation of an applicable statute or *its own regulations*,”³² R. p. 758.

Torrence’s August 27, 2015 REPLY BRIEF continued to present claims that were based on SCDC policy governing private sector prison industry wage practices and procedure, to wit: a) citing §24-3-315 for the “conditions of employment,” R. p. 1005 - 1006; b) arguing against the Circuit Court order in *Adkins* that the “training wage policy conformed to the Federal Register” and that the BJA advised SCDC [they] could “continue his training wage policy,” R. p.1008; c) “conditions of employment” in requiring SCDC to inform Torrence pursuant to §24-3-430(C) and 18 USC §1761(c)(4), R. pp. 1008 - 1009; and d) in relation to a fiduciary duty upon SCDC created by the relevant prison industries statutes, the “conditions” for work of a similar nature and the failure “to pay those rates or make deductions outside statutory guidelines,” R. pp. 1018 - 1019.

Torrence’s November 12, 2012 REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF A TIMELY FILED GRIEVANCE thoroughly supports Torrence’s claims being based upon the policy and procedure of wage practices and procedures, R. pp. 369 - 392.

Torrence submits that the ALC properly found [his] claims were based on “policy/procedures” and exempted by GA-01.12 ¶ 13.9. As such, SCDC’s assertion that Torrence did not claim an exemption for policy/procedures is wholly without merit based upon the foregoing showings. This premise is supported further where this Court in *Ackerman v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrections*, 782 S.E.2d 757 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016) held that inmate’s grievances to amount of pay received under prevailing wage statute and contract for work performed as part of prison industry program were grievances to South Carolina

³² Citing *Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 581 S.E.2d 838 (S.C. 2003), Original Brief, p. 30, arguing SCDC’s interpretation and application of §24-3-40(A)(5) and (B)(2).

Department of Corrections' "policies/procedures" rather than to incidents and, thus, were excepted from grievance system policy's 15-day filing deadline for incident grievances.

Torrence submits that the record before the ALC (Grievance Steps 1 and 2, Notice of Appeal, and Torrence's Briefs) demonstrate substantial evidence that the issue of statute of limitations has been properly raised to the court, *see, e.g., Peterson v. Richland County*, 515 S.E.2d 553 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). Even SCDC stated there were "exceptions to the deadline" in Step 1 Response (R. p.509); SCDC's Step 2 Response (R. pp. 526-527); in SCDC's July 9, 2012 Brief on timelines of the grievance (R. pp. 107 and 108); and SCDC's Initial Brief, pp. 19-24. However, SCDC has adamantly asserted since its Step 1 Response that "**no special exception applies to prison industries pay disputes**" (R. p.509 - 510), and their Step 2 Response, (R. p.____). Each of these assertions by SCDC clearly implicate and acknowledge the exception for policy/procedure to the filing deadline, and that SCDC did not recognize prison industries wage claims under those exceptions.

Torrence suggests that a party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but that it was clear that the argument has been presented on that ground, *see State v. Russell*, 546 S.E.2d 202 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001); and *In re: Robert D*; 530 S.E.2d 137 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000).

C. SCDC RAISED THE DEFENSE OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

SCDC initially raised the defense of statute of limitations in its Step 1 Response, R. pp. 509-510, 512, and continued the assertion in its Step 2 Response, R. pp. 526-527, 531.

On June 5, 2012, following the filing of Torrence's Original Brief in the ALC, SCDC entered "MOTION BY THE DEPARTMENT TO ADDRESS ONLY ONE (1) ISSUE IN IT'S BRIEF AND TO FILE IT'S BRIEF NO LATER THAN JUNE 5, 2012," R. pp. 76 -81.

In SCDC's June 5, 2012 Motion to address only the issue of timeliness, SCDC "proposed" that if the ALC found Torrence did not file his grievance timely, that Torrence could appeal only that issue, R. pp. 78 - 79. SCDC further proposed that, "on the other hand," if the ALC found Torrence's grievance was timely filed, "then the Court could direct the Department to submit a supplemental brief on any remaining issues animated by [Torrence's] claims," R. p.79.

By written Order dated June 7, 2012, the ALC granted SCDC's proposed Motion, R. p. 82. On January 30, 2014, pursuant to SCDC's request, the ALC found that Torrence timely filed his grievance.

Essentially, SCDC raised the defense of statute of limitations at the agency level. At the ALC level, in lieu of the issues raised by the Notice of Appeal, SCDC sought consent to address only the issue of timeliness in a preliminary matter and proposed to proceed on the merits only if the Court ruled in Torrence's favor. SCDC *requested* this action regarding the statute of limitations defense and must now abide by its requested action.

Torrence asserts that there was no specificity to the statute of limitations defense. The defense of "timeliness" and "statute of limitations" was too general and did not require specific nomenclature in response.

SCDC raised the defense and requested an order from the ALC to determine timeliness as a preliminary matter. Ultimately, Judge Durden's January 30, 2014 Order was the Order SCDC requested/proposed. Ordinarily, where a judgment or order is entered by consent, it is binding and conclusive and cannot be attacked by the parties either by direct appeal or in a collateral proceeding, *Johnson v. Johnson*, 425 S.E.2d 46 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992). The right of appeal from such an order is regarded as waived, *Calcutt v. Calcutt*, 320 S.E.2d

55 (S.C. Ct. App. 1984). A party cannot appeal from an order or judgment that he has requested, *Parsons, v. Gibbes*, 37 S.E. 753 (S.C. 1901).

Torrence further suggests this Court may consider the statute of limitations exceptions “lumped together under one issue on appeal,” see *Swentor v. Swentor*, 520 S.E.2d 330 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). Further, the issue, read in conjunction with the argument adequately raised the issue at each stage of this litigation, *Eubank v. Eubank*, 555 S.E.2d 413 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001).

SCDC requested an order regarding the timeliness or statute of limitations and may not now appeal that order.

D. SCDC’S POLICY GA-01.12 PARAGRAPH 13.9 AND SCDC FORM 10.5 ESTABLISH A WAIVER OF THE 15-DAY DEADLINE.

SCDC Policy GA-01.12, §13.1 generally requires Step 1 grievances be filed “within 15 days of the alleged incident.” However, Paragraph 13.9 provides that “exceptions to the 15 day time limit requirement will be made for grievances concerning policies/procedures.”

This Court of Appeals recently held that inmates’ grievances to amount of pay received under the prevailing wage statute and contract for work performed as part of prison industry program were grievances to SCDC “policies/procedures” rather than to incidents and, thus, were excepted from the grievances deadline, *Ackerman et al., v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 782 S.E.2d 757 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016).

The ALC similarly determined that Wicker’s wage dispute also fell under GA-01.12, §7, “Department policies/procedures, directives, or conditions which directly affect an inmate,” and Wicker was directly affected by DOC’s arrangement with private industry to pay less than the “prevailing wage for work of a similar nature in the private sector,” *Wicker*

v. S.C. Dep't of Corrections, 2001 WL 1005574 *1. Our Supreme Court affirmed the ALC's holding in *Wicker*, 602 S.E.2d 56.

Torrence submits that the ALC, this Court of Appeals, and our Supreme Court have all determined that prisoner's prevailing wage claims were grievances to SCDC's "policies / procedures." Such claims are entitled to an exemption pursuant to GA-01.12, ¶ 13.9.

South Carolina Department of Corrections Form 10-5 (SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, INMATE GRIEVANCE FORM, STEP 1), on the reverse side, contains the section "INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING STEP 1 GRIEVANCE FORM." Instruction Number 4 reads in full:

Submit the completed form to the Institutional Grievance Coordinator within fifteen (15) days of an alleged incident; **policy grievances at any time**. Do not write in the space provided for the Warden's response.

SCDC Form 10-5 (Emphasis supplied).

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